REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL:  AHRQ-04-0015
TITLE:  STATE AND REGIONAL DEMONSTRATIONS IN HEALTH INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (ISSUED APRIL 13, 2004)
PROPOSAL DUE:  JUNE 15, 2004, 1:00 PM (LOCAL PREVAILING TIME)

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO RFP, DATED MAY 10, 2004
This amendment provides two revisions to the Statement of Work and responses to questions.

Statement of Work, Specific Requirements, Paragraph #16, is revised as follows: 

 16.  In years 4 and 5 of this contract, the Contractor shall assess the proposed improvements in the quality, safety, efficiency and/ or effectiveness of care that have resulted from the proposed data sharing and interoperability measures. This evaluation shall assess the nature and extent of the healthcare data exchange and its impact on important patient safety and quality processes and outcomes within the state.  Measurable benefits include advances in care processes, improved patient outcomes, improvements in safety and quality, and better monitoring of diseases and other health risks.  Organizational benefits may include improvements in organizational effectiveness, as evidenced in work and quality improvement processes; communication among individuals, groups and organizations; satisfaction of needs and expectations of patients, providers, and other stakeholders; and organizational risk mitigation.  Financial benefits should include cost reduction, revenue enhancement and productivity gains.  The cost savings resultant from redundant test ordering and greater use of lower cost medications should be examined.  The evaluation should also address the costs associated with state-based clinical data exchange including equipment, personnel, training, hardware, software, networks, use of clinical data standards, or other costs incurred to achieve state-wide implementation and interoperability.  
Statement of Work, Specific Requirements, Paragraph #19. is revised as follows:

19.  The contractor shall also hold a monthly conference call with the project officer, on a date and time mutually agreeable to both parties.  A summary of the discussion shall be included in the monthly progress report.  Also, the contractor shall coordinate and collaborate with AHRQ and it’s HITRIC (Health Information Technology Resource Center) contractor to review, share and discuss HIT implementation progress, issues, alternatives and support needs.  The contractor shall provide the HITRIC with information and documents requested by AHRQ for knowledge management, dissemination and transfer of lessons learned from the State HIT implementations, data exchange and interoperability efforts for possible use by other AHRQ HIT project initiatives and grantees.  This coordination and collaboration effort shall occur on a monthly basis, or as frequently as may be required. 

Questions on RFP and Responses

1. Please define what is meant by “interoperability.”

Response – Interoperability is defined as Health Information Systems able to exchange data in a bidirectional mode.  In other words data or core data elements from one system can be directly imported into another.

2. Please define state-wide and regional.

Response: State-wide means across the entire state. State-wide refers to one state, not multiple states.  Regional refers to a large major section or part of a single state, e.g. the panhandle, central, west-coast or southeast region of Florida.    

3. Section C Statement of Work, Subsection C Paragraph 7, Is the intent that the Technical Advisory Panel meetings be publicly noticed?  Is there a requirement that the meetings be public or not public?

Response – No requirement exists regarding the need for public notice nor making the TAP meetings public.

4. Section C Statement of Work, Subsection C Paragraph 12, Please clarify the definition of “minimum exchange of 25 percent of core health care data within core health care entities.” Is the intent to require 25 percent of core data exchanged by core health care entities be shared electronically of the total exchanged in any manner (U.S. mail, fax, phone)?  Or, is the standard to establish that there is the capability of exchanging 25 percent of core data among core health care entities?

Response: The former, i.e. at least 25% data exchange must be demonstrated.  Establishing 25% capability for data exchange, without demonstrating this amount of actual data exchange, is not sufficient.

5. Section C Statement of Work, Subsection C Paragraph 20, This section states that draft Final Impact Report will include: implications for rural care stakeholders.  Please verify that the intent is to limit implications to rural stakeholders. 

Response:  The impact report should encompass all stakeholders either proposed or affected by the project.  The statement was meant to include rural stakeholders as a minimum not a limitation.

6. Clarification of Section B.3.a.11, Is Information technology hardware and software unallowable as a direct cost?  Are software services (e.g. creating custom software that converts non-standard messages from a laboratory system to standard HL7 messages) and implementation costs (e.g. configuring and testing a commercially available interface from a radiology information system) allowable?

Response:  Information technology and hardware and software, such as described above, may be allowable as a direct cost, but may not exceed 20% of total contract costs.  The intent of Section B.3.a.11 is that contractors must first receive Contracting Officer approval for purchase of Informatation Technology hardware or software.
7.  Section C/ Statement of Work A. 4th paragraph describes AHRQ’s investment of $50 million for planning, implementation and evaluation of new and innovative health information technology (HIT).  Would AHRQ consider a contract for the planning phase only to use HIT on a state-wide basis? 
Response:  No. This contract is not for planning HIT only. The primary intent is to demonstrate and evaluate state-wide data exchanges. 

8. Will AHRQ be issuing additional grants for HIT initiatives in the future?  The grant announcements referenced in No. aHRQ-04-0015 Part I. Section C/ Statement of Work A. 6th paragraph had an application receipt date of April 22, 2004.  Is AHRQ contemplating additional grants for HIT initiatives in the future?

Response:  Yes, AHRQ will be issuing additional HIT grants and other HIT initiatives in the future.

9. We wish to make sure we have the proper relationships established with the departments of state government necessary to meet the qualifications specified in the RFP.  Can you please inform us, do we need to have a formal contract in place with each state agency or would memorandums of understanding be sufficient?  What type of supporting documentation of these relationships do you require?

Response: Memorandums of understanding may be permissible; however more formal contracts would be preferable to document relationships.  The choice of what supporting documentation is up to the state. The State should decide what documents and relationships it needs to ensure that their State departments and other entities and partners comply with and perform the work that the State has committed to deliver to AHRQ.  

10. Past Performance Information – Because the collaborative is a newly formed entity in the process of hiring a President and staff (which we do not suspect will happen before June 15, as need funding to hire the appropriate individuals), we have no history or “contracts and subcontractors as required for all key personnel.”  We do have a Chairman in place and a Board of Directors representing over 20 organizations. 

Response:  Section L.9 Past Performance Information of the RFP states, “Offerors that are newly formed entities without prior contracts should list contracts and subcontracts as required for all key personnel.  Include the following information for each contract: a. Name of contracting activity, contract number, contract type, d. Total contract value, e. Contract work, f. Contracting Officer and telephone number, g. Program Manager and telephone number, h. Administrative Contracting Officer, if different from item f, and telephone number, i. List of major subcontractors.

11. Need to confirm that the Small Business Subcontracting Plan provision would not apply to us as a “non-profit” small business.

Response:  A non-profit business is not considered a small business.  It is considered a large business for this procurement, accordingly, the Small Business Subcontracting Plan provision would be applicable.

12.  As per Subsection a. (4) of Section L.8 states that the tech proposal is limited to 125 pages double-spaced and includes items A-G listed therein. Please confirm whether or not the Past Performance and Small Disadvantaged Business Participation Plan are included in the 125 pages.

Response:  The Technical Proposal does not include the Past Performance and Small Disadvantaged Business Participation Plan. 

13. Subsection b. of Section L.7 states the proposal should be placed in the following order: I.  Tech, II. Past Performance, III SDB Plan, IV Business Proposal, but in Subsection c. of Section L.7 states that the proposal should be submitted in 3 parts, without mention of SDB.

Response:  Section L.7 subsection c. neglected to mention the Small Business Subcontracting Plan, it should be submitted as Part III of the proposal as stated earlier, Part IV should be the Business Proposal. 

14. Is there a preference with respect to the number of the “core data items” to be shared?  For example, would a proposal that only addresses prescription drug allergies, or only addresses laboratory tests and results, be acceptable?

Response – the contract requires a minimum of core data items affecting patient safety and stipulates lab and prescribing information.  The exact data elements will be dictated by the specifics of the proposal.

15.  Would it be possible to obtain more examples of desirable projects?
Response – no specific examples of desirable projects are available.

16. Could a proposal involve disease reporting data systems, for example, but not providers of care?

Response – The contract envisions providers or care to be involved in the project. 

17. Is the involvement of the Medicaid program required?

Response – An analysis of the State Medicaid program is required within the scope of work.  Additional linkages with State/regional programs is a requirement, Medicaid could be one of those programs.

18. Will only projects that have been fully implemented at the time the proposal is submitted be eligible, or will projects still in the planning phase also be eligible?

Response – Projects still in the planning phase are eligible.

19. How is the need for HIPAA compliance addressed in the implementation schedule?

Response:  HIPAA is not explicitly addressed. It’s assumed that the State will comply with HIPAA regulations for any work proposed for and performed under this contract. 

20. Are there any limitations on what type of entities can be an agent of the state?

Response – No but the entities must be duly appointed by the State with a clear understanding that the entity will be applying for the contract.

21. Our interpretation of this RFP leads us to believe this support seeks to support statewide or regional data sharing between local community IT networks.  Is there an assumption that these local networks are already fully operational at the start of the initiative and therefore this initiative is only to support intersystem data sharing?

Response – The RFP can support a variety of data sharing arrangements. 

22. Is it acceptable to submit a proposal that focuses on further refinement of a local health information system in its early stage of implementation?  This is provided that the refinement of this network would be done with the intent of spreading this network to other areas of the state region by region.  Included in this proposal would be a plan for how this network would be expanded.

Response – The RFP can support a variety of data sharing arrangements. 

23. What is meant by regional?  Does a large city with its’ suburbs and contiguous counties meet that definition or is it broader i.e. contiguous states?

Response: Regional refers to a major section within a single state, e.g. the panhandle, central, west-coast or southeast region of Florida.  A region within a single state however may partner with sections of contiguous states, to perform data exchange, if useful; but these sections of contiguous states may not be included in the definition of a region to determine if the proposed region of a  single state is acceptable for this contract. The section of a state defined by a large city with suburbs and contiguous counties may meet the definition of regional. This, of course, depending on the city and counties proposed for a State.  For example, the NYC and its’ 5 Boroughs would most likely be considered acceptable as a region of NY state, since it’s considered by most persons to be a major section of NY state in terms of population, area, and other criteria.     

24. In a large state, is it reasonable to submit a proposal that focuses on data sharing of only a subset of patients having one or two chronic diseases.  

Response: Yes.  This does not relieve the proposal of exchanging a minimum data set of core data items.

25. Is it acceptable to substitute an M.D. degree for a Ph.D. degree in the Project Director position?

Response:  Yes.

26.  L.8 – B) Technical Approach 2. – How is “significant experience with statewide or regional data interchange going to be interpreted?

a. Does the contractor need to be able to demonstrate prior experience in data interchange of the type envisioned under this contract in proposed the state or region?

b. Or might it be acceptable to show:

i. Commitment by the state government and the Medicaid program; 

ii. Statewide planning related to increasing quality and decreasing cost through disease management; 

iii. success in bringing together providers, employers, and payers to launch a pilot of reimbursing for value based upon use of evidence based medicine, EMR/IT enabled patient-provider communication, and reporting of process markers;

iv. substantial planning for data interchange in two  regions with agreement to bring those efforts together under this proposal;

v. a subcontractor with informatics competency and a proven track record with an information architecture that has enabled information interchange within a complex academic health center and their affiliated providers; and

vi. a subcontractor with experience with data interchange in other regions?

Response:  Either of the options is acceptable.

27. IT Hardware and software are excluded as direct costs.  Does this inclusion apply to hardware and software needed to support the regional data interchange?  Or does it relate only to hardware and software used for office productivity, project management, etc.?

Response: Yes it applies to hardware and software to support the regional data interchange, as well as office productivity, project management, etc.

28. L.9 – Past Performance – Since the State of XXX is the responder, please advise how a state entity should provide performance information.  Does this only apply if the State plans to use subcontractors in our response and plan, in which case, performance of our subcontractors would be required?

Response:  See response to #10 above.  If the State has performed or operated healthcare data sharing in the past this requirement is relevant.  If subcontractors are utilized this requirement is relevant.

29. L.11, A – Cost/ Price Proposal – Please describe expectations for “certified documentation.”  What entity should certify this information?

Response:  The certification comes from the offeror.  The offeror certifies the data (in their proposal) is current, accurate and complete.  This is similar to a tax return, the signor certifies that it is true and correct. 
30. Must the Project Director personally have all the skills listed in Section L.8.D – Key Personnel?  Or, can the list be seen as a package of skills that must be possessed by the team, and coordinated through the management plan?

Response: Yes, all skills listed are required of the Project Director.

31. Is it AHRQ’s intent to limit eligible contractors to entities with existing functioning clinical data exchange systems? 

Response: No,  but contractors should be able to demonstrate the ability to perform the required clinical data exchange at the level and timeline outlined within the contract.

32. Would AHRQ be willing to negotiate the implementation schedule to something more realistic and community driven?  Is AHRQ willing to consider a revised timeline that would facilitate a cooperative coalition approach?

Response: No

33. Would AHRQ be willing to negotiate the clinical evaluation schedule if the implementation schedule is changed?

Response: No
34. The RFP states: “The contractor shall assure that measurable improvements in the quality, safety, efficiency and/or effectiveness of care have resulted from the proposed data sharing and interoperability measures.”  Would AHRQ be willing to change the language of the sentence to read something similar to: 
“The contractor shall assess improvements in the quality, safety, efficiency and/ or effectiveness of care that are believed to be associated with the proposed data sharing and interoperability measures.”

Response:  Change language to state:

“The contractor shall assess the proposed improvements in the quality, safety, efficiency and/ or effectiveness of care that have resulted from the proposed data sharing and interoperability measures.”

35. The RFP states: Inspection and acceptance will be performed at the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.”  Would AHRQ be willing to inspect XXX at its home office?
Response:  The inspection described in this question is the inspection of deliverables, which are to be delivered to the Project Officer.

36. The RFP states: “The Government may unilaterally change its Project Officer designation.”  Will AHRQ consider a proposal that Project Officer will be replaced upon the contractor’s adequate showing of a cause?

Response:  It is the Government’s right to change the Project Officer, as needed.  Through the administration of the contract, the Government would try to mitigate any problems between the contractor’s staff and the Government Project Officer. 

37. The RFP states in Section G.4, Fringe Costs- show rate, base and total amount as well as verification/ allowability or rate changes (when applicable)  What does “verification/ allowability” mean?  

Response:  The verification/ allowability would follow the requirements set forth in FAR 31.201-1 Composition of Total Cost
38. The RFP mentions that the contractor may charge indirect costs and fees.  How does the contractor determine its indirect costs and fees?
Response –  In a cost reimbursement the contractor has to prove that they have an acceptable accounting system, so they can identify their costs, both direct and indirect.  Reference, FAR 31.202 Direct Costs and 31.203 Indirect costs.  Dependent on what type of organization a contractor is, they will have to secure negotiated indirect cost rates from the cognizant indirect cost negotiator in order to receive reimbursement, i.e., Profit is with NIH; Non-Profit is with the Division of Cost Allocation, DHHS.
39. Can the contractor designate some personnel as being assigned part-time to the project?

Response:  Yes.

40. The RFP states that the contract is a cost-plus-fixed-fee contract.  However, it also states that a cost type award is being considered.  Also, the third paragraph on page 1 specifies “A performance based cost-plus-fixed-fee, incrementally funded contract ….”  What does this mean?  And does it contradict the two preceding contract types mentioned above?

Response:  The Government anticipates awarding a cost reimbursement contract.  The Government may incrementally fund this contract, as funds from future fiscal years become available.  Any mention of a “performance based” contract were made in error.  This is not a performance based contract requirement.  

41. The RFP states “This contract is subject to the provisions of Public Law (P.L.) 99-234 which amends the Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act to provide that contractor costs for travel, including lodging, or other subsistence, and incidental expenses, shall be allowable only to the extent that they do not exceed the amount allowed for Federal employees.   Are exceptions allowed where hotels and transportation entities refuse to honor government rates for non-government employees?

Response:  It will be the Contractor’s responsibility to attempt to obtain Government rates for travel for non-government employees, the Contracting Officer will provide assistance to this end.  Yes, exceptions may be made where hotels and transportation entities refuse to honor government rates for non-government employees.  

42. Page 7 of the RFP, the three earlier AHRQ grants are discussed (Transforming Healthcare Quality through Information Technology Planning Grants, Implementation Grants, and Value Grants).  What is the relationship between these three grants and the RFP?

Response: The discussion of three HIT grant programs was provided only for background purposes of related AHRQ HIT initiatives undertaken this year. 

43. In reference to the three AHRQ grants discussed in #42 above, Does this mean that the entity that responds to the RFP must also be a recipient of the three prior AHRQ grants?
Response:  No.

44.  The terms “core data element” and “core healthcare entity” are used in the RFP.  What doe these terms mean in the context of the RFP?

Response – Core data elements should be defined in the response and can be such things as immunization records, allergies or medication lists. The minimum set should contain elements that have been associated with improvements in patient safety and quality of care.  Core healthcare entities are those entities that the contractor proposes to share data between and may be such organization as public health agencies, hospitals or physician offices.

45. What specifically is meant by “programmatic linkages” in terms of the expected work products in this project?

Response:  The project must be linked through memorandum of understanding or other means to the entities mentioned.  The type of linkage both in scope and nature shall be defined within the proposal.

46.  How does AHRQ define “complete geographical coverage and/or coverage of the State?

Response: State-wide means across the entire state. State-wide refers to one state, not multiple states.  Regional refers to a large major section or part of a single state, e.g. the panhandle, central, west-coast or southeast region of Florida.

47. The RFP states: “Within six months of EDOC, and every six months thereafter, the contractor shall provide a report on the financial status of the project.  This report shall include expenditures, financial reserves, sources of revenue, and projected expenditures for the next twelve months.  A final financial report will be due at contract completion.  Does this imply the contractor will provide funding from sources other than the contract?  Does the requirement to report “financial reserves” imply a requirement to maintain one or more project reserve funds?  If so, for what purposes and to what extent?

Response: AHRQ desires sustainability of the projects past the five year contract window. The contractor is encouraged to have either at the inception or late in the timeline additional revenue streams for the project.  A report of the status including reserves does not imply a specific or required level of reserves but is intended to demonstrate the financial condition of the project.

48.  What happens if a Key Personnel becomes unavailable to any causes beyond the contractor’s control (death, illness, etc.)?

Response:  In accordance with the Key Personnel clause of the RFP, and any resultant contract, the contractor will be required to provide a replacement candidate for the Key Person position which meets the Government’s requirements.

49. Subsection 20 (page 13) requires a draft Final Impact Report to be submitted on hard copy and disk.  In what format (floppy, CD, DVD, etc.) should the disk copy be prepared?

Response: Diskette, CD or DVD are acceptable formats. Diskette or CD would be preferable, if report size can fit on this media. 

50.  Subsection 22 (page 13) requires electronic submission.  In what format must it be submitted?

Response: Send the Project Officer an email with an attachment of the presentation formatted in Powerpoint (.ppt). 

51.  Are there any required forms like the 398 form that we need to complete and submit with our application?  We completed those for the planning grant we just applied for and I did not see that requirement in this RFP?

Response:  The RFP provides explicit directions for preparation of the proposal.  See Sections L.7 General Instructions, L.8 Technical Proposal Instructions, L.9 Past Performance Information,  L.10 Small Disadvantaged Business Participation Plan and L.11 Business Proposal.  

52. Am I correct in thinking this is a 5 year 5 million dollar grant?  1 million dollars per year?

Response:  This is a request for proposal for a contract not a grant.  The cost estimate is $1 million / year for five years for each contract.  Up to five contracts may be awarded. 

